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Celebrating 30 years 

of serving Oman with pride



Dear citizens, elevating Oman to the 
higher strata of progress that it deserves is a 

national duty and an immense responsibility to 
be shouldered by each and every citizen

“ “



His Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tarik
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Every sunrise is like a new page, 
a chance to right ourselves and 
receive each day in all its glory.
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Located right across the main road from Bahla Fort, 
Bahla Heritage Market is an integral part of the Bahla 
Oasis which covers about 4,493 square metres.
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A view of Muscat, one of Arabia’s prettiest capitals, 
soaking in the sunset
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Chairman’s Report
Dear Shareholders,

On my behalf and the Company’s board of directors, 
I wish to congratulate His Majesty Sultan Haitham 
Bin Tarik Al Said on His Majesty’s third anniversary 
of assuming leadership of the Sultanate and guiding 
us in the path of progress.  

It is my pleasure & privilege to present the 19th 

Annual Report of your Company, together with the 
Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
December 2022, and share the highlights for the 
year.

The prices of crude oil -a major growth driver for the 
economy- have increased after the start of the 
Russian-Ukrain war in February last year and have remained elevated almost throughout the year. Increased 
crude prices have significantly boosted business activities and the economy, thereby accelerating the economic 
progress in the country and the region.

Your Company has strategically repositioned itself to meet the changing customer preferences in the Post 
Covid period, expanded the customer reach capabilities with customer-centric initiatives, and capitalized on 
the new business opportunities that arose during the year.

As a result, your Company has recorded an impressive performance by recording a growth of:

a) 32% in sales (RO 492.7 million in 2022 against RO 372.5 million in 2021)

b) 124% in net profit (RO 6.192 million in 2022 against RO 2.760 million in 2021).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (RO’000): -

2022
(RO’000)

2021
(RO’000) Inc /(dec) Inc/(dec) %

Sales 492,731 372,484 120,247 32%
Cost of Sales (465,237) (350,067) 115,170 33%
Gross profit 27,494 22,417 5,077 23%
Other income 4,949 4,396 553 13%
Total expenses (26,251) (24,053) 2,198 9%
Net profit 6,192 2,760 3,432 124%

Earnings per share (RO) 0.090 0.040 0.050 124%
Book value per share (RO) 0.689 0.639 0.050 8%
Retained earnings (RO’000) 36,224 32,792 3,432 10%
Total equity (RO’000) 47,528 44,096 3,432 8%
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Chairman’s Report (continued)

HIGHLIGHTS: -

• Total sales during the year 2022 reached the record level of RO 492.7 million (2021: RO 372.5 million), an 
increase of RO 120.2 million, i.e., by 32%. The increase in sales is mainly attributed to the recovery in 
economic activities, the increase in selling prices, and the increase in fuel demand at border stations and 
airports.

• As a result of increased sales, net profit reached RO 6.192 million (2021: 2.760 million), i.e., an increase of 
RO 3.432 million (i.e., 124%) over 2021.

• Earnings per share is also increased to RO 0.090 in 2022 compared to RO 0.040 in 2021, an increase of 
RO 0.050 (i.e.,124%).

• Book value per share increased from RO 0.639 in 2021 to RO 0.689 in 2022, a growth of 8% due to the 
increase in net profit in 2022. 

• Total equity also increased to RO 47.5 million in 2022 from RO 44.1 million in 2021, registering a growth of 8%.

SEGMENT PERFORMANCE: -

• Retails Segment 

 The retail sales segment is the primary revenue driver, accounting for almost 71% of our business in 2022.

 A new fuel station was opened during the year, bringing the total number of service stations to 239. In 
addition, the Company opened new convenience stores and other service centers to enhance the retail 
sector’s business, develop non-fuel revenues, and meet the increasing demand for these services.

 Retail sales witnessed a remarkable improvement this year compared to the previous year. Sales volume 
has increased by 21% due to the increased sales in border fuel stations and the gradual increase in demand 
as many supporting businesses gradually returned to normalcy. Further, the successful Khareef season 
also boosted sales performance during the period.

 In Dec 2022, your Company has successfully opened its first branch in Dammam, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
to construct and operate fuel stations in the country and participate in the growing retail market in the Kingdom. 
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Chairman’s Report (continued)

• Commercial segment

 The commercial segment is the second-largest business for the Company, accounting for about 17% of the 
total revenue in 2022. This sector is very competitive in the prices offered to customers, and diesel fuel is 
the main product of this sector. Commercial sales are highly affected by infrastructure projects, oil extraction, 
and power production, which require high efficiency in delivery.

 The sales volume of this sector has decreased by 7% compared to the previous year due to the decrease 
in demand by power-generating companies. However, despite the decline in power sector sales in general, 
the other sectors witnessed a remarkable improvement during the year, such as oil and gas and infrastructure.

• Aviation segment   

 Aviation sales volume has increased significantly by 91% compared to last year as the tourism & hospitality 
industry returns to more pre-pandemic. Oman Air and other major airlines have resumed their services to 
many destinations, contributing significantly to the sales growth during the year.

 The Company also won the prestigious contract with Oman Airports to manage the fuel farm at Muscat 
International Airport for five years starting from January 1, 2023, which reflects confidence in the Company’s 
operational and technical capabilities to manage international aviation operations.

• Lubricant segment 

 Despite the challenging external environment, the lubricants segment witnessed positive growth due to 
improved marketing tools and expanding the Company’s business in this sector to other countries. 

• NFR (Non-Fuel Retailing) segment 

 Non-Fuel Retailing continues to be a high-priority area. The Company focuses on redesigning convince-
stores and constructing/developing commercial buildings in the fuel outlets to fully capitalize on the growth 
opportunity it offer s to support our retail business. 

DIVIDEND: -

In line with our consistent dividend policy of maintaining a sustainable dividend payment, the Board of Directors 
has recommended a cash dividend of Bzs 85 (2021: Bzs 40) per share, amounting to RO 5.865 million (2021: 
RO 2.760 million) representing 85% (2021: 40%) of share capital, subject to the approval of the shareholders’ 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 21 March 2023.
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Chairman’s Report (continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: -

Our corporate philosophy on Corporate Governance has been to ensure fairness to the Stakeholders through 
transparency, full disclosures, empowerment of employees, and collective decision-making. 

The Corporate Governance Report highlighting these endeavours has been incorporated as a separate section, 
forming part of the Annual Report.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY: -

Your Company is committed to the communities around it and through various CSR programs. During the past 
year, the Company launched many programs within the social responsibility framework and supported several 
charitable institutions and non-profit organisations serving the country.

QHSE: -

The Company is committed to conducting business with a robust Quality, Health, Safety, and Environmental 
conscience, ensuring sustainable development, safe workplaces, and enrichment of the quality of life of its 
employees, customers, and the community as a top priority. Compliance with Quality, Health, Safety, and 
Environment systems, procedures, and laws is monitored at the unit, division, and corporate levels. The QHSE 
activities of the Company are reviewed periodically in Board meetings.

The achievement of Quality ( ISO 9001 ), Health & Safety ( ISO 45001 ), & Environment ( ISO 14001 ) certificates 
are a witness of consciousness on all levels of the importance of commitment to the guidance of the Quality, 
Health, Safety & Environment. In addition, during the year, Quality, Health, Safety & Environment audits were 
carried out at various offices, projects, operations, and locations.

Various training programs were conducted across the corporation covering Quality, Health, Safety, and 
Environment -related topics.
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Chairman’s Report (continued)

FUTURE OUTLOOK:-

Risks still surround the global economy, which has not yet recovered from the consequences of the Covid-19 
pandemic. These risks increased after the start of the Russian-Ukrainian war in February 2022. This war 
affected the demand and supply balance for essential commodities such as energy and food. In addition, 
Central banks are also trying hard to curb inflation by raising interest rates. 

The Sultanate’s Government has built its budget for 2023 on the basis that the average price of oil per barrel 
will be $55. The Sultanate’s budget also aims to achieve economic growth of 3%, keeping inflation prices within 
reasonable limits through continued government support for fuel, energy, and other basic commodities and 
raising interest rates.

Despite the geopolitical and economic risks, expectations indicate that the average global oil price in 2023 will 
be above $80 per barrel. In addition, the government’s efforts are continuing to control inflation through its 
support for essential commodities, and it is also continuing to implement the fiscal balance plan. Accordingly, 
the Company will take advantage of emerging opportunities in the changing business environment per its 
strategy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:-

On behalf of the Board of Directors and executive management, I take this opportunity to express our most 
sincere gratitude and loyalty to His Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tariq and his efforts toward a prosperous 
Oman.

We thank the Ministry of Energy and Minerals, the Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Investment 
Promotion, OQ Refineries, our shareholders, customers, the officials of the Capital Market Authority, the 
Muscat Stock Exchange, and Muscat Clearing & Depository Company for their valuable support and co-
operation. We also appreciate the dedicated and committed service of our staff members.

Dr. Saif Salim Saif Al-Harthi 
Chairman
16 February 2023
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Jabreen Castle is one of the most beautiful historic 
castles in Oman, and once was a beacon of education.
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Corporate Governance Report
Our Corporate Governance Philosophy

The Company is committed to implement the Code of Corporate Governance issued by the Capital Market Authority 
(CMA) to sustainably maximize shareholder value while ensuring fairness to all stakeholders: customers, partners, 
investors, employees, government and society. Our corporate governance reflects our value system encompassing 
our culture, policies and relationships with our stakeholders. 

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (‘the Board’) is at the core of our corporate governance practice and oversees how the 
Management serves and protects the long-term interests of all our stakeholders. We believe that an active, well-
informed and independent Board is necessary to ensure the highest corporate governance standards.

The Board’s main responsibilities include:

 Review the strategic plans and operational performance

 Review effectiveness of internal controls

 Approval of business plans and budgets

 Approval of quarterly and annual financial statements

 Approval of policies and procedures

Election of the Board of Directors

Elections of the members of the Board of Directors are carried out in the Annual Ordinary General Meetings of the 
Company in accordance with the provisions of the Commercial Companies Law and the guidelines issued by the 
Capital Market Authority. 

If the office of a director becomes vacant in the period between two annual ordinary general meetings, the board 
appoints a temporary director to assume his office until the next ordinary general meeting in accordance with the 
provisions of the Commercial Companies Law.
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Current Board
The current Board was elected in the Annual Ordinary General Meeting held on 09 March 2022.  

As at 31 December 2022, the Board consists of seven members, all are independent directors.

The details of the members of the Board of Directors as of 31 December 2022, are as follows: 

Sl
No Director’s name Designation Status

Board  
Meetings  
Attended

AGM 
Attended

Directorships 
in other SAOG 

Companies

1) Dr.  Saif Salim Saif Al-
Harthi Chairman Independent 10 YES Bank Muscat 

SAOG

2)
His Highness Sheikh 
Mohammed Bin sultan Al 
Nahyan (from 9 Mar 2022)

Deputy  
Chairman Independent 8 No -

3)
Ibrahim Mohamed 
Hamed Al Harthi 
(from 9 Mar 2022)

Director Independent 8 No -

4) Sultan Khalifa Saleh Al-Tai Director Independent 10 YES Phoenix Power 
Company SAOG

5) Abdullah Mohammed Al 
Mamari (from 9 Mar 2022) Director Independent 8 No

1) Sembcorb 
Power and water 
SAOG

2) Oman Cement 
Company SAOG

6) Mohammed Saif Al Kaabi 
(from 9 Mar 2022) Director Independent 8 No -

7) Nabil Hamed Zahran 
Al-Mahrouqi Director Independent 9 YES

1) National Bank 
of Oman SAOG

2) Oman Chlorine 
SAOG

Previous members

1) Dr. Juma Ali Juma 
Al-Juma (until 9 Mar 2022) Chairman Non 

-Independent 2 YES -

2)
His Highness Zayed Bin 
Sultan Al Nahyan 
(until 9 Mar 2022)

Deputy 
Chairman

Non-
Independent 2 YES -

3)
Mr. Saleh Nasser Juma 
Al-Araimi 
(until 9 Mar 2022)

Director Independent 2 YES -

4)
Faisal Ali Saleh Al Ahmed 
Al Ali 
(until 9 Mar 2022)

Director Independent 0 NO -
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Number of Board meetings in 2022:
The Board held ten meetings in 2022 as detailed below:

1) January 31, 2022 2) February 14, 2022 3) March 17, 2022 4) April 28, 2022

5) May 25, 2022 6) June 16, 2022 7) July 27, 2022 8) October 3, 2022

9) October 26, 2022 10) November 16, 2022

The intervals between the board meetings are in line with the CMA requirements of a maximum interval of four 
months.

Audit Committee

Role of Audit Committee

The Audit Committee Charter defines the duties and responsibilities of the Committee, which are concisely:

 Ensuring compliance with the CMA regulations and Code of Corporate Governance

 Review quarterly and annual financial statements

 Recommend external audit fees and terms of engagement to the Board of Directors

 Review and approve the annual internal and external audit plans and ensuring that auditors have full and 
unrestricted access to all relevant documents and staff

 Oversight of all audit activities and internal control evaluation

 Review proposed specific transactions with related parties and making recommendations to the Board

 Conduct any special investigations and report to the Board

The Company has an internal audit function that reports to the Audit Committee.

Composition of Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises a chairman and three directors, all of whom are non-executive and all of them are 
independent directors. The committee members are knowledgeable in finance, industry, and laws and regulations 
governing SAOG companies.

Audit Committee meetings
The Audit Committee met eight times in 2022, as detailed below:

1) 10 Feb 2022 2) 2 Mar 2022 3) 26 Apr 2022 4) 14 Jun 2022

5) 25 Jul 2022 6) 28 Sep 2022 7) 24 Oct 2022 8) 21 Dec 2022
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The attendance record of the Audit Committee meetings was as follows: 

Sl  
No Director’s name Designation Status meetings 

attended

1) Sultan Khalifa Saleh Al-Tai Chairman Independent 7

2) Ibrahim Mohamed Hamed Al Harthi (from 9 Mar 2022) Member Independent 6

3) Abdullah Mohammed Al Mamari (from 9 Mar 2022) Member Independent 6

4) Nabil Hamed Zahran Al-Mahrouqi Member Independent 7

Previous member

1) Saleh Nasser Juma Al-Araimi (until 9 Mar 2022) Chairman Independent 2

Executive Committee 
Role of Executive Committee
The Executive Committee is delegated the powers and authority to facilitate the smooth running of the operations of the 
Company and to provide the Board with a mechanism for considering in-depth, any issue that the Board considers that 
requires detailed attention. The Committee’s main areas of competence are to review the following points:

• Strategic issues
• Investment decisions 
• Treasury and liquidity management
• Business plans and budgets
• Major changes in policies and procedures
• Proposals for new business areas 
• Progress reviews
• Staff matters
• Other matters referred by the Board to the Committee· 

Composition of Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises four independent directors.

Executive Committee meetings
The Executive Committee met three times in 2022 as detailed below:

1) 15 Jun 2022 2) 2 October 2022 3) 15 November 2022

The attendance record of the Executive Committee meetings was as follows:
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Sl  
No Director’s name Designation Status meetings 

attended

1) His Highness Sheikh Mohammed Bin Sultan 
Al Nahyan (from 9 Mar 2022) Chairman Independent 3

2) Dr.  Saif Salim Saif Al-Harthi Member Independent 3
3) Abdullah Mohammed Al Mamari (from 9 Mar 2022) Member Independent 3

4) Mohammed Saif Al Kaabi (from 9 Mar 2022) Member Independent 3

Previous members

1) His Highness Zayed Bin Sultan Al Nahyan 
(until 9 Mar 2022) Chairman Non-Independent 0

2) Dr. Juma Ali Juma Al-Juma  (until 9 Mar 2022) Member Non -Independent 0
3) Faisal Ali Saleh Al Ahmed Al Ali (until 9 Mar 2022) Member Independent 0

Nomination & Remuneration Committee
The Board constituted “Nomination and Remuneration Committee” in 2016 to assist and advise the Board on the 
following matters:

1) Establishing remuneration & incentive policy for Directors & Executive Management
2) Defining bonus policy for Executive Management
3) Appointment of skilled persons to the Board & Executive Management
4) Succession planning for Directors & Executive Management
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprises a Chairman and three Directors; three are independent.
The Nomination & Remuneration Committee met five times in 2022 as detailed below:

1) 9 Feb 2022 2) 10 May 2022 3) 4 Sep 2022

4) 6 Oct 2022 5) 15 Dec 2022

The attendance record of the Committee meetings was as follows:

Sl 
No Director’s name Designation Status Meetings 

attended

1) Ibrahim Mohamed Hamed Al Harthy (from 9 Mar 2022) Chairman Independent 4

2) Mohammed Saif Al Kaabi (from 9 Mar 2022) Director Independent 4

3) Nabil Hamed Zahran Al-Mahrouqi Director Independent 5

Previous members

1) Dr.  Saif Salim Saif Al-Harthi (until 9 Mar 2022) Chairman Independent 1

2) Faisal Ali Saleh Al Ahmed Al Ali (until 9 Mar 2022) Director Independent 0

3) Sultan Khalifa Saleh Al-Tai (until 9 Mar 2022) Director Non 
Independent 1
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Remuneration of Directors 
Sitting fees are paid to the Board and committee members to take account of the additional work involved. The 
details of sitting fees are shown below:
• Board Meetings-RO 800 per meeting.
• Audit Committee Meetings-RO 600 per meeting.
• Executive Committee Meetings-RO 600 per meeting.
• Nomination & Remuneration Committee sitting fee - RO 600 per meeting.

 Details of total sitting fees for the year are given below:

1) Total sitting fees of the Board of Directors meetings RO 47,400 

2) Total sitting fees of the Audit Committee meetings RO 13,800 

3) Total sitting fees of the Executive Committee meetings RO 6,800 

4) Total sitting fees of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee meetings RO 6,200 

Total sitting fees RO 74,200

The details of amounts paid to / proposed for directors for 2022 are shown below:

Sl 
No Director’s name

Sitting fees Proposed 
Remuneration Total

RO RO RO

1) Dr.  Saif Salim Saif Al-Harthi 10,000 35,714 45,714

2) His Highness Sheikh Mohammed Bin sultan 
Al Nahyan (from 9 Mar 2022) 8,200 29,061 37,261

3) Ibrahim Mohamed Hamed AL Harthi 
(from 9 Mar 2022) 10,000 29,061 39,061

4) Sultan Khalifa Saleh Al-Tai 10,000 35,714 45,714

5) Abdullah Mohammed Al Mamari                      
(from 9 Mar 2022) 10,000 29,061 39,061

6) Mohammed Saif Al Kaabi (From 9 Mar 2022) 10,000 29,061 39,061

7) Nabil Hamed Zahran Al-Mahrouqi 10,000 35,714 45,714

Previous members   
1) Dr. Juma Ali Juma Al-Juma (until 9 Mar 2022) 1,600 6,654 8,254

2)
His Highness Zayed Bin Sultan Al Nahyan 
(until 9 Mar 2022) 1,600 6,654 8,254

3)
Mr. Saleh Nasser Juma Al-Araimi 
(until 9 Mar 2022) 2,800 6,654 9,454

4)
Mr. Faisal Ali Saleh Al Ahmed Al Ali 
until 9 Mar 2022) - 6,652 6,652

 Total (RO) 74,200 250,000 324,200

The total sitting fees for each director and the total sitting fees and remuneration for all directors are within the 
provisions of the Articles of Association and the Commercial Companies Law (18/2019).
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Management Remuneration
During the year 2022, the total salaries, perquisites, and other benefits of the top five executives in the company 
amounted to OMR 679,129.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
During the year 2022, several projects benefitting Society were undertaken. As a responsible corporate citizen, we 
responded to the need of the hour by contributing to various social responsibility activities, covering donations to 
education, health & charity institutes.

Shareholders 
The shareholders who owned 5% or more of the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

Shareholder�s name % Of shareholding Number of shares held
1) ABS Lubricants 40.0 % 27,600,000
2) Civil Service Employees Pension Fund 13.2 %  9,081,781
3) Public Authority for Social Insurance  9.5 % 6,567,909

4) Mohammed Hamed Mohammed Al Harthy 5.6 % 3,830,000 
5) Ministry of Defense Pension Fund 5.3 % 3,683,930 

Total 73.6 % 50,763,620 

Distribution of shareholding 
Category of shares Number of shareholders Number of shares % of shareholding

Up to 5,000 996 1,598,459 2.3%
5,001 – 30,000 363 2,940,653 4.3%
30,001 -50,000 26 1,062,955 1.5%
50,001 – 100,000 19 1,334,913 1.9%
100,001 – 400,000 18 2,924,180 4.2%
Above 400,000 14 59,138,840 85.7%
Total 1,436 69,000,000 100%

Dividend policy
The Board of Directors will maintain a sustainable dividend policy which will address the financial strength of the 
Company, support its long-term strategies and at the same time, will pay a reasonable dividend to the shareholders 
and in compliance with the Commercial Companies Law (18/2019).

Communication with shareholders 
The annual and quarterly financial statements are published in two newspapers (Arabic and English).
All the information relating to the Company, news and the financial results are available in the Company’s website and 
in Muscat Securities Market website. The Annual General Meeting offers a further opportunity for the directors to meet 
with shareholders.
The Annual Report includes the Management Discussions and Analysis Report.

The Company did not have any GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any other convertible warrants as on 31 December 2022 
and hence the likely impact on equity is Nil.
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Market price data 

The monthly market prices during 2022 are shown in the following table:

Month
High Low Close

RO/ share RO/ share RO/ share

January 0.700 0.640 0.692

February 0.760 0.684 0.688

March 0.688 0.640 0.684

April 0.692 0.640 0.692

May 0.688 0.624 0.624

June 0.700 0.648 0.696

July 0.720 0.696 0.716

August 0.840 0.720 0.840

September 0.820 0.792 0.820

October 0.900 0.800 0.840

November 0.924 0.840 0.900

December 0.940 0.888 0.900

Performance in comparison to MSX services sector index
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Statutory auditors 
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. EY is committed to doing its part in building 
a better working world. The insights and quality services which EY delivers help build trust and confidence in the 
capital markets and in economies the world over. 

The MENA practice of EY has been operating in the region since 1923. For over 98 years, we have grown to over 
7,500 people united across 26 offices and 15 countries, sharing the same values and an unwavering commitment to 
quality. EY MENA forms part of EY’s EMEIA practice. Globally, EY operates in more than 150 countries and employs 
365,000 professionals in 700 offices. Please visit ey.com for more information about EY.

Details of non-compliance with the provisions of Corporate Governance
The Company complies with the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance. Therefore, there are no penalties 
imposed on the Company by CMA/MSM during the period of this report.

 Acknowledgement by the Board of Directors
1) The Board of Directors is responsible for the approval of the financial statements related to the activities of the 

Company and the results of its business, presented thereto by the executive management, which reveal the 
actual financial status of the Company.

2) The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s internal controls which are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate risk to which the Company is exposed and provides reasonable rather than absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 

3) The Board of Directors has reviewed the internal controls and is satisfied that appropriate controls are in place to 
implement the Code’s requirements. The Board of Directors believes to the best of its knowledge that there are 
no material issues which might affect the continuity of the Company’s operations in the financial year which shall 
end on 31 December 2023.

Chairman Director
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Built on the foundations of a pre-Islamic structure, 
Nakhal Fort is one of the most prominent historical 
monuments in the Sultanate.
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BUSINESS & OBJECTIVES
The Company is primarily engaged in the marketing & distribution of petroleum products viz. Gasoline (M91 & M95), 
diesel, aviation fuel, kerosene & lubricants.

The Company operates with the following objectives:

1) Improving shareholders net-worth and payment of consistent and fair returns

2) Increasing the overall market share in all business areas & effectively addressing the prevailing competition

3) Improving the corporate image through better customer service and brand recognition

4) Recruiting and empowering Omani youths

5) Total commitment to the protection of Health, Safety, and Environment (HSE)

BUSINESS OPERATIONS
The Company operates its business through the following segments:

1) Retail sales
2) Commercial sales
3) Other sales (including Aviation & lubricant sales).
The performance of these major segments is discussed below:

1) Retail sales
The retail sales segment is the primary revenue driver, accounting for almost 71% of our business in 2022.
A new fuel station was opened during the year, bringing the total number of service stations to 239. In addition, 
the Company opened new convenience stores and other service centers to enhance the retail sector’s business, 
develop non-fuel revenues, and meet the increasing demand for these services.
Retail sales witnessed a remarkable improvement this year compared to the previous year. Sales volume has increased 
by 21% due to the increased sales in border fuel stations and the gradual increase in demand as many supporting 
businesses gradually returned to normalcy. Further, the successful Khareef season also boosted sales performance 
during the period.

2) Commercial sales
The commercial segment is the second-largest business for the Company, accounting for about 17% of the total 
revenue in 2022. This sector is very competitive in the prices offered to customers, and diesel fuel is the main product 
of this sector. Commercial sales are highly affected by infrastructure projects, oil extraction, and power production, 
which require high efficiency in delivery.
The sales volume of this sector has decreased by 7% compared to the previous year due to the decrease in demand 
by power-generating companies. However, despite the decline in power sector sales in general, the other sectors 
witnessed a remarkable improvement during the year, such as oil and gas and infrastructure.

3) Aviation sales
Aviation sales volume has increased significantly by 91% compared to last year as the tourism & hospitality industry 
returns to more pre-pandemic. Oman Air and other major airlines have resumed their services to many destinations, 
contributing significantly to the sales growth during the year.

4) Lubricants
The lubricants segment witnessed positive growth due to improved marketing tools and expanding the Company’s 
business in this sector to other countries.

Management Discussions and Analysis
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Management Discussions and Analysis
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2022 
(RO’000)

2021 
(RO’000) Inc /(dec) Inc/(dec) %

Sales 492,731 372,484 120,247 32%
Cost of Sales (465,237) (350,067) 115,170 33%
Gross profit 27,494 22,417 5,077 23%
Other income 4,949 4,396 553 13%
Total expenses (26,251) (24,053) 2,198 9%
Net profit 6,192 2,760 3,432 124%

Earnings per share (RO) 0.090 0.040 0.050 124%
Book value per share (RO) 0.689 0.639 0.050 8%
Retained earnings (RO’000) 36,224 32,792 3,432 10%
Total equity (RO’000) 47,528 44,096 3,432 8%

Sales have increased to RO 492.7 million in 2022 (2021: RO 372.5 million), an increase of RO 120.2 million (32%). 
The increase in sales is mainly attributed to the increase in retail and aviation sales volume and fuel prices.

Expenditures increased by RO 2.2 million (9%) mainly due to the increase in fuel stations’ operating expenses, fuel 
transportation costs, employees’ costs, and income tax.

Net profit after tax increased to RO 6.192 million in 2022 (2021: RO 2.76 million), an increase of RO 3.432 million 
(124%) mainly due to the increase in sales.

Return on equity increased in 2022 compared with 2021 due to an increase in net profit in 2022.

Below is a chart that indicates the net profit, dividend, and net equity since 2017:
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QHSE
The Company is committed to conducting business with a robust Quality, Health, Safety, and Environmental 
conscience, ensuring sustainable development, safe workplaces, and enrichment of the quality of life of its employees, 
customers, and the community as a top priority.

Compliance with Quality, Health, Safety, and Environment systems, procedures, and laws is monitored at the unit, 
division, and corporate levels. The QHSE activities of the Company are reviewed periodically in Board meetings.

The achievement of Quality ( ISO 9001 ), Health & Safety ( ISO 45001 ), & Environment ( ISO 14001 ) certificates are 
a witness of consciousness on all levels of the importance of commitment to the guidance of the Quality, Health, 
Safety & Environment. In addition, during the year, Quality, Health, Safety & Environment audits were carried out at 
various offices, projects, operations, and locations.

Various training programs were conducted across the corporation covering Quality, Health, Safety, and Environment 
-related topics.

HUMAN RESOURCES
The Company believes in comprehensive and meaningful employee participation, which empowers their capabilities. 
Therefore, the Company has developed various policies for the development of human resources along with the 
strategic vision of the Company. Several new initiatives have been implemented during the year, aimed at - employee 
engagement and making employees ‘future ready.’

Our Omanisation level was 89.5%, and the number of employees stood at 343 at the end of 2022.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
Risks still surround the global economy, which has not yet recovered from the consequences of the Covid-19 
pandemic. These risks increased after the start of the Russian-Ukrainian war in February 2022. This war affected the 
demand and supply balance for essential commodities such as energy and food. In addition, Central banks are also 
trying hard to curb inflation by raising interest rates.

The Sultanate’s Government has built its budget for 2023 on the basis that the average price of oil per barrel will be 
$55. The Sultanate’s budget also aims to achieve economic growth of 3%, keeping inflation prices within reasonable 
limits through continued government support for fuel, energy, and other basic commodities, and raising interest rates.

Despite the geopolitical and economic risks, expectations indicate that the average global oil price in 2023 will be 
above $80 per barrel. In addition, the government’s efforts are continuing to control inflation through its support for 
essential commodities, and it is also continuing to implement the fiscal balance plan. Accordingly, the Company will 
take advantage of emerging opportunities in the changing business environment per its strategy.
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An elegant promenade lined with mosques and latticed 
buildings, the Mutrah Corniche stretches along the 
waterfront for 3 kilometers.
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Saiq Plateau, the undisputed highlight of the Jebal 
Akhdar region and its terrace cultivation.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2022

ASSETS Notes 2022 
RO’000

2021 
RO’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 28,191 28,648
Investment properties 10 494 541
Right -of- use assets 11 6,368 4,074
Contract assets-non current 12 3,085 3,353
Deferred tax assets 8 2,741 2,722

40,879 39,338

Current assets
Inventories 13 3,824 3,878
Trade and other receivables 14 69,647 58,412
Contract assets - current 12 1,952 1,952
Bank balances and cash 15 35,241 32,906

110,664 97,148

TOTAL ASSETS 151,543 136,486

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 16 6,900 6,900
Legal reserve 17 2,300 2,300
Special reserve 18 2,104 2,104
Retained earnings 36,224 32,792
Total equity 47,528 44,096

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – non current 11 6,163 3,174
Contract liabilities – non current 12 - 785
Employees’ end of service benefits 19 235 199

6,398 4,158
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 51,342 42,851
Short term borrowings 21 42,900 42,000
Lease liabilities – current 11 720 1,156
Contract liabilities – current 12 1,462 1,343
Income tax payable 8 1,193 882

97,617 88,232
Total liabilities 104,015 92,390
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 151,543 136,486
Net assets per share (RO) 25 0.689 0.639

These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 16 February 2023 
and signed on their behalf by:

CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR
The attached notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.

Annual Report 2022
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes
2022 2021

RO’000 RO’000

Revenue 4 492,731 372,484

Cost of sales (465,237) (350,067)

GROSS PROFIT 27,494 22,417

Other income 5 4,949 4,396

Operating and administration expenses 6 (24,649) (23,208)

OPERATING PROFIT 7,794 3,605

Finance income 1,422 1,985

Finance costs 7 (1,899) (2,283)

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 7,317 3,307

Income tax expense 8 (1,125) (547)

PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR 6,192 2,760

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RO) 26 0.090 0.040

The attached notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share 
capital

RO’000

Legal 
reserve

RO’000

Special 
reserve

RO’000

Retained 
earnings

RO’000

Total

RO’000

At 1 January 2021 6,900 2,300 2,104 30,032 41,336
Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the year

- - - 2,760 2,760

At 31 December 2021 6,900 2,300 2,104 32,792 44,096
Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the year

- - - 6,192 6,192

Dividend paid (note 22) - - - (2,760) (2,760)

At 31 December 2022 6,900 2,300 2,104 36,224 47,528

The attached notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2022 

Notes 2022
RO’000

2021
RO’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before income tax: 7,317 3,307
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 9 3,562 3,664
Depreciation on right of use assets 11 948 1,191
Depreciation on investment properties 10 47 47
Accruals for employees’ end of service benefits 19 36 36
Allowance for expected credit loss on bank balances 15 5 9
(Reversal of) / allowance for expected credit loss 12 & 14 (377) 1,086
Allowance for impairment of property, plant and equipment 9 110 14
Amortisation of contract assets 12 215 210
Provision for slow moving inventory 13 86 98
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (33) (48)
Finance income (1,422) (1,985)
Finance costs 7 1,899 2,283
Operating cash flows before working capital changes: 12,393 9,912
Inventories (32) (593)
Trade and other receivables (10,585) (16,417)
Trade and other payables 7,815 6,919
Operating cash flows after working capital changes: 9,591 (179)
Employees end of service benefits paid 19 - (48)
Income taxes paid 8 (833) (388)
Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 8,758 (615)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 9 (3,454) (3,610)
Proceeds from short term deposit - 10,000
Finance income 1,422 1,985
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 45 48
Net cash flows (used in) / from investing activities  (1,987) 8,423

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid 22 (2,760) -
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 11 (1,145) (1,371)
Finance costs paid (1,431) (2,034)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 751,427 590,714
Repayment of short-term borrowings (750,527) (593,445)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (4,436) (6,136)

Net increase in Bank balances and cash 2,335 1,672
Bank balances and cash at the beginning of the year 32,906 31,234
Bank balances and cash at the end of the year 15 35,241 32,906

Note: During the year, certain capital work in progress have been transferred to contract assets at a net book value 
of RO 227 thousand (2021: RO 1,453 thousand) (note 9).

The attached notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Legal status and principal activities
 Al Maha Petroleum Products Marketing Company SAOG (“the Company”) is a joint stock company registered 

under the Commercial Companies Law, of the Sultanate of Oman. The principal activity of the Company is the 
marketing and distribution of petroleum products. The principal place of business is located at Ghala, Sultanate 
of Oman.

 In December 2022, the Company has signed a partnership agreement with Vince Arabia  in Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and registered its first overseas branch in Dammam, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, named as “Al Maha 
Petroleum Products Marketing Company – KSA branch”, bearing Commercial Registration number 
2050165463.

  The principal activity of the branch is to construct and operate filling stations.

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies
 The principal accounting policies are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 

the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
a) Statement of compliance

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) and the requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019 of the Sultanate of 
Oman and the Capital Market Authority. They have been prepared under the assumption that the Company 
operates on going concern basis (note 3.7). 

b) Basis of Measurement

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention.

c) Presentation and functional currency

 These financial statements are presented in Rial Omani (RO), which is the Company’s functional currency. 
All financial information presented in Rial Oman has been rounded to nearest thousands, unless otherwise 
indicated. 

d) Use of estimates and judgements

  The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial 
statements are described in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

 Following are the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company:

2.2  Revenue from contracts with customers 
 The Company’s principal activity is marketing and selling fuel and petroleum products. 

 Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred 
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. The Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its 
revenue arrangements because it typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the 
customer.

 Sale of fuel and petroleum products 
 Revenue from sale of Fuel and petroleum products is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset 

is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the products. The Company’s terms of sales require 
amounts to be paid on average of 30 -90 days from the date of delivery. 

 The Company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance 
obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction 
price for the sale of products, the Company considers the effects of variable consideration. If the consideration 
in a contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration to which it will 
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at 
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount 
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration 
is subsequently resolved.

 Volume Rebate  

 The Company applies either the most likely amount method or the expected value method to estimate the 
variable consideration in the contract. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable consideration 
is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The most likely amount is used 
for those contracts with a single volume threshold, while the expected value method is used for those with more 
than one volume threshold. The Company provides retrospective volume rebates to certain customers once the 
quantity of products purchased during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. 
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the 
future expected rebates, the Company applies the most likely amount method for contracts with a single-
volume.

2.3 Directors’ remuneration
 The Company follows the Commercial Companies Law, and other relevant directives issued by CMA, in regard 

to determination of the amount to be paid as Directors’ remuneration. Directors’ remuneration is charged to 
the statement of comprehensive income in the year to which it relates.

2.4 Employees’ end of service benefits
 End of service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employment of the Company’s employees 

at the reporting date, having regard to the requirements of the Oman Labor Law and its amendments. 
Employee entitlements to annual leave and leave passage are recognised when they accrue to employees and 
an accrual is made for the estimated liability arising as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
reporting date. These accruals are included in current liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits is 
disclosed as a non-current liability.

 Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan and occupational hazard insurance for Omani 
employees in accordance with the Omani Social Insurances Law of 1991 are recognised as an expense in the 
statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5 Borrowing cost 
 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that 

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part 
of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.6  Income tax
 Taxation is provided for based on relevant tax laws of the Sultanate of Oman in which the Company operates.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised, or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted at the reporting date.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can 
be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income 
tax asset to be utilised. Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and 
not in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment
 Recognition and measurement

 Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses if any. Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is 
accounted for separately, including major inspection and overhaul expenditure, is capitalised. When significant 
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them 
separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition 
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statement of comprehensive 
income as incurred.

 Subsequent expenditure

 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
an item if it is probable that future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and 
the cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, as incurred.

 Depreciation

 Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the property, plant and equipment as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
  Years

 Buildings and roads 7 - 20
 Plant and equipment 3 - 20
 Motor vehicles 3 - 7
 Furnitures and fixtures 3- 20

 Work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment. When the underlying asset is available for use in its 
intended condition and location, work-in-progress is transferred to the appropriate property, plant and 
equipment category and depreciated in accordance with depreciation policy of the Company.

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
The useful lives of property, plant and equipment is lower than lease term. 

 Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount.

 An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
reference to their carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining operating profit.

2.8 Investment properties
 Property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation and not yet occupied by the company has been 

classified as investment property. Investment property is accounted for under cost model and are measured 
initially at cost, including transaction costs and is accordingly stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
The cost of investment property is its purchase price together with any incidental expenses. The cost of 
investment property is written down to residual value in equal installments over the estimated useful lives of 20 
years.

 Where the carrying amount of an investment property is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 

 Rental income on investment property and repairs and maintenance expenses relating to the investment 
property are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.9 Segment reporting 
 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer who 
manages the Company on a day-to-day basis, as per the directives given by the board of directors that makes 
strategic decisions.

2.10  Inventories
 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and estimated cost necessary 
to make the sale.  

 The cost of inventories is determined using the first-in-first-out method and includes expenditure incurred in 
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 

 Provision is made where necessary for obsolete, slow moving and defective items, based on management’s 
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Contract balances
 Contract assets

 A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If 
the Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration 
or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.

 Contract costs

 Contract costs is the cost incurred to fulfil the contract and the relating assets must be amortised on a 
systematic basis that is consistent with the Company’s transfer of the related goods or services to the customer 
unless there are indications of impairment based on management’s estimation of recoverability of contract 
costs.

 Contract liabilities 

 A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays 
consideration before the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised 
when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as 
revenue when the Company performs under the contract.

2.12  Trade and other receivables 
 A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the 

passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). 

2.13  Financial assets 
 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.  

 The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables 
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical 
expedient, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

 In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs 
to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The 
Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way 
trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the 
asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13  Financial assets (continued)
 Subsequent measurement

 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

 • Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

 • Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 

 • Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses 
upon derecognition (equity instruments) 

 • Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

 This category is the most relevant to the Company. The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost 
if both of the following conditions are met:

 • The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

 • The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and 
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when the 
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade 
receivables and Bank balances and cash.  

 Derecognition

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:

 • The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

 • The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass- through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

 When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement. 

 In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company 
could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13  Financial assets (continued)

	 Impairment	of	financial	assets	
 The Company recognises an allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at 

fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

 ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

 For trade receivables covering under IFRS 15, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment. For finance lease receivable, the company applies general approach in calculating the ECL and 
is determined by using the probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD). 
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in 
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.  

2.14  Impairment of non-financial assets 
 The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets other than inventories and deferred tax asset are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indications exist, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specified to the asset. Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised.

2.15  Financial liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement
 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, 
as appropriate.

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables 
and bank borrowings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15  Financial liabilities (continued)

 Subsequent measurement

 The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

 Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss:
 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 

liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the 

near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are 
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded 
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

 Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 is satisfied. The Company has not designated any 
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

	 Financial	liabilities	at	amortised	cost	(loans	and	borrowings):
 This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest (EIR) method. The 
effective interest method is the method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

 Derecognition
 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.16 Cash and bank balances 
 Cash and bank balances comprise cash at banks and on hand short-term deposits with an original maturity 

of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 

2.17  Provisions
 A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provision for 
environment remediation, resulting from past operations or events, is recognised in the period in which an 
obligation to a third party arises and the amount can be reliably estimated. Measurement of liabilities is based 
on current legal requirements and existing technology.  
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.17 Provisions (continued)
 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows. Where some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision 
are expected to be recovered from third parties, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

2.18 Dividends
 Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s 

shareholders. Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are dealt with as a non-
adjusting event after the reporting date.

2.19 Trade and other payables
 Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by 

the supplier or not.

 2.20 Fair values
 A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 

both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes based on a number of accounting policies and methods. Where applicable, information 
about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or 
liability. 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

 • In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

 • In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability
 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.
 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 

when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

 The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the 
use of unobservable inputs.

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

 • Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

 • Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

 • Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

 2.20 Fair value (continued)
 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the 

Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 
the end of each reporting year.

2.21 Foreign currencies
 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at its functional currency spot rates at 

the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

 The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 
recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items 
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, 
respectively).

2.22 Current versus non-current classification
 The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current 

classification.
 An asset as current when it is:

 • Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

 • Held primarily for the purpose of trading

 • Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

 • Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period.

 All other assets are classified as non-current.

 A liability is current when:

 • It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

 • It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

 • It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

 • There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period.

 The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

2.23 Leases 
 The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.  
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)   

 Company as a lessee 
 The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 

leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

 i) Right-of-use assets 
 The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right of use assets 
are subject to impairment. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Years
Land 5 - 25

  ii) Lease liabilities 
 At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 

value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option 
to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense 
in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.  

 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

 iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and 

equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 Company as a lessor 
 Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of statement of comprehensive income due 
to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.24 New and amended standards and interpretations to IFRS
 The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Company has not early adopted any other standard, 
interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective

 - Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amendments to IAS 37

 - Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3  

 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16 Leases

 - IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Subsidiary as a first-time 
adopter

 - IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

 - IAS 41 Agriculture – Taxation in fair value measurements

 These amendments had no significant impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Company 
intends to use the practical expedients in future periods if they become applicable.

 2.25 Standards issued but not yet effective
 The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 

issuance of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these 
new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

 • IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
 In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting 

standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once 
effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies 
to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type 
of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary 
participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an 
accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers.

 In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting 
policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting 
aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:

 - A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)

 - A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

 IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures 
required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the 
date it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Company.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25     Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

	 •	 Amendments	to	IAS	1:	Classification	of	Liabilities	as	Current	or	Non-current
 In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements 

for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

 - What is meant by a right to defer settlement

 - That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

 - That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

 - That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms 
of a liability not impact its classification

 The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current 
practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.

	 •	 Definition	of	Accounting	Estimates	-	Amendments	to	IAS	8
 In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting 

estimates’. The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in 
accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement techniques 
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.  

 The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to 
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that 
period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. 

 The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

 • Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - Amendments to IAS 12
 In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition 

exception under IAS 12, so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. 

 The amendments should be applied to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, a 
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability should also be 
recognised for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with leases and decommissioning 
obligations. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments.

 • Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
 In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality 

Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures 
that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies 
with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply 
the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. 
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25     Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

 • Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (continued)

 The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier 
application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance 
on the application of the definition of material to accounting policy information, an effective date for these 
amendments is not necessary. 

 The Company is currently revisiting their accounting policy information disclosures to ensure consistency with 
the amended requirements.

 • Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – Amendments 
to	IFRS	10	and	IAS	28

 In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the effective date of the amendments until such time as it has 
finalised any amendments that result from its research project on the equity method. Early application of the 
amendments is still permitted.

 The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is sold or 
contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognised when 
a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a business as defined in IFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting 
from the sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the 
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

 The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

 • Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Amendments to IFRS 16
 In September 2022, the Board issued Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16). The 

amendment to IFRS 16 specifies the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability 
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the 
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retain.

 After the commencement date in a sale and leaseback transaction, the seller-lessee applies paragraphs 29 to 
35 of IFRS 16 to the right-of-use asset arising from the leaseback and paragraphs 36 to 46 of IFRS 16 to the 
lease liability arising from the leaseback. In applying paragraphs 36 to 46, the seller-lessee determines ‘lease 
payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ in such a way that the seller-lessee would not recognise any amount 
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee. Applying these requirements 
does not prevent the seller-lessee from recognising, in profit or loss, any gain or loss relating to the partial or 
full termination of a lease, as required by paragraph 46(a) of IFRS 16.

 The amendment does not prescribe specific measurement requirements for lease liabilities arising from a 
leaseback. The initial measurement of the lease liability arising from a leaseback may result in a seller-lessee 
determining ‘lease payments’ that are different from the general definition of lease payments in Appendix A of 
IFRS 16. The seller-lessee will need to develop and apply an accounting policy that results in information that 
is relevant and reliable in accordance with IAS 8.

 The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies. The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. 

 The effects of COVID-19 have resulted in certain judgements and estimates being significant in the current 
period. This is due to uncertainty introduced by the effects of the pandemic.

 Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  The areas 
requiring a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are set out below.

 Estimates

3. 1 Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and other provisions 
 The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based 

on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

 The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company 
calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For 
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the 
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default 
rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in 
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

 The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of 
forecast economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic 
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future.

 At the reporting date, gross trade receivable were RO 75,326 thousand (2021:RO 66,883 thousand), and the 
allowance for expected credit losses was RO 9,400 thousand (2021: RO 9,767 thousand).

 Other provisions is recognised for expected claims if any based on management past experience and 
expectation that these cost might be incurred in the next financial year .

3.2 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 The Company’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for 

calculating depreciation. The calculation of useful lives is based on management’s assessment of various 
factors such as the operating cycles, the maintenance programs, and normal wear and tear using its best 
estimates. 

3.3 Taxes 
 Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of tax regulations and the amount and timing of future 

taxable income. Given the wide range of business relationships and nature of existing contractual agreements, 
differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such 
assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded. 

 The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of finalization 
of tax assessments. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of 
previous tax assessments and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the 
responsible tax authority.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

 Estimates (continued)

3.4 Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
 The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 

borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have 
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the 
Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they 
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific 
estimates.

3.5 Net realisable value of inventories
 Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, 

an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed 
on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are 
assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or 
obsolescence, based on historical selling prices.

 At the reporting date, gross petroleum products and raw materials were RO 4,113 thousand (2021: RO 4,081 
thousand), with provisions for old and obsolete inventories of RO 289 thousand (2021: RO 203 thousand). Any 
difference between the amounts actually realised in future periods and the amounts expected will be recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
 Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of 
disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for 
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. 

 The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 
five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant 
future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested. The recoverable 
amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows 
and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to right of use and 
property, plant and equipment recognised by the Company.

 Judgements

3.7 Going concern
 The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue 
to be prepared on the going concern basis.

3.8 Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal 
and termination options – Company as lessee

 The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by 
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

 Judgements (continued)

3.8 Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal 
and termination options – Company as lessee (continued)

 The Company has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms. The Company 
applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it 
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the 
commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in 
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew 
or to terminate (e.g., a change in business strategy, construction of significant leasehold improvements or 
significant customisation to the leased asset).

4. Revenue 
2022 

RO’000
2021 

RO’000
Revenue from sale of goods 347,948 271,680
Revenue from contract with customers 144,783 100,804

492,731 372,484
Type of sales
Retail 347,948 271,680
Commercial 86,005 80,384
Others 58,778 20,420

492,731 372,484
  

Geographic market - domestic market 492,731 372,484

 Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 492,731 372,484

5. Other income

2022 
RO’000

2021 
RO’000

Reimbursement of transportation costs 2,684 2,256
Reimbursement of manpower costs 647 638
Fuel card income 547 422
Rental income from filing stations and others 505 465
Tankers rental income 260 243
Rental income from investment properties (note 10) 90 107
Others 216 265

4,949 4,396
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6. Operating and administration expenses 

2022 
RO’000

2021 
RO’000

Employee costs:
Wages, salaries and other benefits 6,047 5,417
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 458 426
End of service benefits (note 19) 36 36

6,541 5,879
Operating expenses:
Filling station operating expenses 4,073 3,106
License fees 1,232 1,032
Transportation expenses 4,926 4,249
Allowance for impairment of assets (note 9) 110 15
Other operating expenses 1,934 1,761

12,275 10,163
Administration and general expenses:
Legal and professional expenses 388 369
Allowance for expected credit losses (note 12,14 and 15b) (371) 735
Sales promotion expenses 200 132
Vehicle maintenance expenses 292 279
Directors sitting fees and expenses 324 230
Other administrative expenses 228 309

1,061 2,054
Depreciation and Amortisation:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 9) 3,562 3,664
Depreciation on right of use assets (note 11) 948 1,191
Depreciation on investment property (note 10) 47 47
Amortisation of contract assets (note 12) 215 210

4,772 5,112

24,649 23,208

7.  Finance costs
2022 

RO’000
2021 

RO’000
Interest on short term borrowings (note 21) 1,361 1,854
Interest on contract liabilities (note 12) 70 180
Accretion of interest on lease liabilities (note 11) 468 249

1,899 2,283
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8. Income tax

 
2022 

RO’000
2021 

RO’000
Income tax expense comprises of the following:

Current taxation charge:
Current tax expense 1,144 882

Deferred taxation:
Deferred tax for the year (19) (335)

1,125 547
 The Company is liable to income tax in accordance with the income tax law of the Sultanate of Oman at the 

enacted tax rate of 15% on taxable income. For the purpose of determining the tax expense for the year, the 
accounting profit has been adjusted for tax purposes relating to both income and expense items. After giving 
effect to these adjustments, the average effective tax rate is estimated to be 15.16% (2021: 24.70%).

 Tax provision movement is as follows:

2022 
RO’000

2021 
RO’000

At 1 January 882 388
Income tax expense for the year 1,144 882
Paid during the year (833) (388)

At 31 December 1,193 882

 The following is a reconciliation of income taxes calculated on accounting profits at the applicable tax rate with 
the income tax expense for the year:

2022 
RO’000

2021 
RO’000

Accounting profit before tax 7,317 3,307

Tax on accounting profit before tax at 15% (2021: 15%) 1,098 496
Add tax effect of:
Non-deductible expenses 46 386

Tax charge for the year 1,144 882

 The Company’s tax assessment for the year 2018 has been taken up by the Oman Tax authorities and the 
Company has been issued a demand for payment of additional tax charge of RO 22 k due to dis-allownce of 
directors remuneration for the year 2018 amounting to RO 148 K based on internal guidelines of the Tax 
Authority. The Company has not accepted this disallowance on the basis that the directors remuneration paid 
for the year 2018 is in accordance with  article 101 of Legislations Regulating the Joint stock Companies listed 
in Muscat Stock Exchange. Based on the clarification received from the Capital Market Authority in this regard, 
the Company has filed an objection with the Tax Authority for the disallowance of directors remuneration and 
the demand for additional tax charge as referred above.
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8. Income tax (continued)

 The Company’s tax assessments for the years 2019, 2020 and 2021 have not yet been assessed by Oman 
taxation authorities. The Management considers that the amount of additional taxes, if any, that may become 
payable on finalisation of assessment of the open tax years would not be significant to the Company’s financial 
position at 31 December 2022.

 Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of 15% (2021: 15%). 

 The deferred tax asset recognised in the statement of financial position is attributable to the following:

 At 
1 January

Charge for 
the year 

At 
31 December

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000
2022

Provision for obsolete inventory
31 12 43

Provision for impairment 1,523 (40) 1,483
Other provisions 79 (59) 20

Depreciation 1,048 70 1,118

IFRS 16 adjustment  41 36 77
Deferred tax asset at 15% 2,722 19 2,741
 

At 
1 January

Charge 
for the year 

At 
31 December

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000
2021

Provision for obsolete inventory 16 15 31
Provision for impairment 1,327 196 1,523
Other provisions 20 59 79
Depreciation

960 88 1,048
IFRS 16 adjustment 64 (23) 41
Deferred tax asset at 15% 2,387 335 2,722 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(i) Property, plant and equipment include filling station assets with a carrying value of RO 23.2 million (2021: RO 

24.2 million). These assets are constructed and commissioned on filling station sites leased for periods not 
exceeding 25 years. Lease rentals for sites managed by the Company are agreed for periods varying from five 
to ten years. In certain cases where the filling station assets cost is shared between the Company and site 
owner, only the cost borne by the Company is recognised as property, plant and equipment. During the year 
the Company  written off  on 4 shared filling station assets that were not operational.

10. Investment properties 

2022
 Freehold

land Buildings Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

 Cost

 At 1 January and at 31 December 238 943 1,181

Depreciation
 At 1 January 2022 - 640 640
  Charge for the year - 47 47
At 31 December 2022 - 687 687

At 31 December 2022
238 256 494

2021
 Freehold

land Buildings Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

 Cost

 At 1 January and at 31 December 238 943 1,181

Depreciation
 At 1 January 2021 - 593 593
  Charge for the year - 47 47
At 31 December 2021 - 640 640

At 31 December 2021 238 303 541

a) The rental income during the year from the investment properties amounted to RO 90 thousand (2021: RO 107 
thousand) (note 5).

b) At the end of the reporting year, the Company has assessed if there are any indicators for impairment of 
investme nt property, considering the impact of global economic outlook and expected recession in the 
markets on the real estate sector in the Sultanate of Oman. 

c) At the end of the reporting year, the fair values of the investment properties amounted to RO 1,527 thousand 
(2021: RO 1,453 thousand) based on valuation undertaken by professional valuers. The Management has 
estimated the recoverable amount to be more than the carrying value, and accordingly concluded no impairment 
loss has arisen for the year.
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11. Leases
 The Company has lease contracts for various land on which their filling station, depots and office operates. 

The Company enters into leasing arrangements for filling stations at various locations across the Sultanate of 
Oman. The lease terms are typically between five and twenty-five years. The Company’s obligations under its 
leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.

 The Company also has certain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases with low value. The 
Company applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these 
leases.

 Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

2022 2021 
RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 4,074 4,072
Additions during the year 133 1,175
Re-measurements / adjustments 3,433 190
Deletions (324) (172)
Depreciation for the year (948) (1,191)
At 31 December 6,368 4,074

 Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:

2022 2021 
RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 4,330 4,275
Additions during the year 133 1,175
Re-measurements / adjustments 3,452 183
Deletions (355) (181)
Accretion of interest 468 249
Payments (1,145) (1,371)
At 31 December 6,883 4,330

Current         720 1,156
Non-current 6,163 3,174

 The following are the amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income:

 2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Depreciation on right of use assets (note 6) 948 1,191
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 7) 468 249
Expense relating to short-term leases/low value assets 697 354

2,113 1,794
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11. Leases (continued)
 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

1 January 
2022 Cashflows Others

31 December 
2022

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities 4,330 (1,145) 3,698 6,883

1 January 
2021 Cashflows Others

31 December 
2021

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities 4,275 (1,371) 1,426 4,330

12. Contract asset / liabilities 

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Contract assets (note a) 5,037 5,305
Contract liabilities (note b) 1,462 2,128

 a) Contract assets at the end of the reporting period comprises the following

2022
 Contract

 assets
Contract 

costs Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2022 1,782 3,553 5,335
Additions during the year - 114 114
Discounting impact (58) - (58)
Transfers from CWIP (note 9) 227 - 227
Amortisation during the year (note 6) - (215) (215)
Settled during the year (346) - (346)

1,605 3,452 5,057
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (20) - (20)
At 31 December 2022 1,585 3,452 5,037

Current portion of contract balances 1,585 367 1,952

Non-current portion of contract balances - 3,085 3,085
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12. Contract asset / liabilities (continued)

2021
Contract 

assets
Contract 

costs Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2021 846 4,047 4,893
Additions during the year 11 - 11
Discounting impact - (284) (284)
Transfers from CWIP (note 9) 1,453 - 1,453
Amortisation during the year (note 6) - (210) (210)
Settled during the year (528) - (528)

1,782 3,553 5,335
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (10) (20) (30)
At 31 December 2021 1,772 3,533 5,305

Current portion of contract balances 1,772 180 1,952
Non-current portion of contract balances - 3,353 3,353

 (i) Contract assets at the end of the reporting year represent revenue earned from the contracts with the 
customers that include construction of filling stations as receipt of consideration is conditional on 
successful completion of performance obligation. Upon completion of obligation and acceptance by the 
customer, the amounts recognized as contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables.

 (ii) Contract costs comprise of the following: 

  • Initial costs of obtaining a contract consists of incremental costs incurred towards the development of 
assets for the client which involves implementation and subsequent services to assets. 

  • Costs to fulfil a contract consists of costs relating directly towards a customer contract which will 
generate or enhance the resources of the Company, which in turn will enable the Company in satisfying 
the performance obligations as a part of the contract. 

 b) Contract liabilities include liability in respect of a contract with a major customer for the construction, 
management, and operation of retail fuel stations in pre-defined locations within its concession areas. This 
contract is for 15 years, from Sep 2020 to Aug 2035. According to the contract, the Company shall 
establish eight retail fuel stations in the specified strategic locations, which is subject to the approval of 
the concerned Government authorities. As on the reporting date, the Company has obtained initial 
approval from the concerned authority to construct five fuel stations. However, the final approval from the 
relevant authorities in this regard is still awaited. In respect of the remaining three fuel stations, initial 
approval was not approved by the relevant authority due to the minimum distance restriction for 
constructing a filling station. As a result, the Company is discussing with the customer for alternative 
solutions.

 Per the terms of the contract, in return for the customer awarding strategic locations for the construction of 
fuel stations, a sum of RO 4 million is payable in monthly installments of RO 111,111 each for three years 
starting from September 2020. Due to the non-resolution of an alternative solution as referred to above, the 
Company has suspended the monthly installment from Aug 2022.
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12. Contract asset / liabilities (continued)
 On the reporting date, the Company has paid an amount of RO 2,555,553 to the customer in this regard, and 

the balance payable amount of RO 1,444,447 is shown in the books of account as contract liabilities at the 
present value of RO 1,426 thousand (2021: RO 2,119 thousand).

 The Company is ongoing discussion with the customer on the matter  and considers the amount paid to the 
customer in respect of the non-approved locations to be recoverable as the approval of a retail fuel location is 
not in the control of the Company and management believe that there will be no legal implications as result of 
suspending the monthly settlement  due to the customer.

13. Inventories

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Petroleum products 3,444 3,147
Fuel cards 71 18
General stores and consumables 598 916

4,113 4,081
Provision for slow moving inventories (289) (203)

3,824 3,878

 Movement in the provision for slow moving inventories is as follows:

2022 2021
RO ’000 RO ’000

At 1 January 203 105
 Provided during the year 86 98

 At 31 December 289 203

14. Trade and other receivables

2022 
RO’000

2021 
RO’000

Trade receivables 75,326 66,883
Receivables from related parties - 49
Less: allowance for expected credit loss (9,400) (9,767)

65,926 57,165

Prepayments 630 616
Accrued income 51 2
Staff receivables 109 92
Other receivables 2,931 537

69,647 58,412

 As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables of RO 9,400 thousand (2021: RO 9,767 thousand) were impaired 
and provided against. Movements in the allowance for expected credit loss is as follows:
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14. Trade and other receivables (continued)

 Movement in the allowance for expected credit loss is as follows:

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 9,767 8,685
(Reversed) / provided during the year (367) 1,082

At 31 December 9,400 9,767

 The amounts are considered to be due within 90 days from the date of invoice for all customers and the vast 
majority are unsecured. Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully 
recoverable.

 The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 

 As at 31 December 2022, The Company has unclaimed receivables from Oman Tax Authority amounting to 
OMR 796,465 presenting VAT input Tax for fuel sold from Dealer Filling Station through the Company prepaid 
and postpaid fuel cards. Considering the different process of VAT return filing and VAT refund claims, as per 
the Company Tax Consultant’s advice, the Company have cautiously excluded input tax amount related to the 
value of fuel sold to prepaid and postpaid fuel card customers from Dealer Filling Satiation till the Company 
receive signed and stamped Tax Invoice from Dealer Filling Station.  

 As per Article 73 of Oman VAT Law, it is allowed to amend the VAT return within 3 years from the date of 
submission. The Company is in the process of rectification of documentation to comply with Law and Executive 
Regulations to collect Tax Invoices from the Dealers before filing VAT refund from Oman Tax Authority  and 
Company will ensure that all tax invoices are collected and in compliance with related Law and Executive 
Regulations. 

 Furthermore, management is in confidence that all Vat input tax in relation fuel sold from Dealer filling station 
is recoverable and has legal right to refund all VAT input since implementation of VAT in April 2021 till the date 
of report.

15. Bank balances and cash

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Cash at bank (a) 34,747 32,692
Deposits - -
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (b) (147) (142)

34,600 32,550
Cash in hand 641 356
Bank balances and cash 35,241 32,906

 a) Bank balances and cash include call deposits which earn interest at commercial rates (2021 – same terms).
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15. Bank balances and cash (continued)

  b) Movement in the allowance for expected credit loss is as follows:

2022 2021

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 142 133

Provided during the year (note 6) 5 9

At 31 December 147 142

16. Share Capital
 The authorized share capital comprises 85 million shares of RO 0.100 each (31 December 2021: 85 million of 

RO 0.100 each) 

 At 31 December 2022, the issued and fully paid up share capital comprised 69 million shares of RO 0.100 
each (31 December 2021:  69 million shares of RO 0.100 each) (note25).

 The details of shareholders who own 10% or more of the Company’s share capital are as follows:

2022 2021 
% No. of shares % No. of shares

ABS Lubricants 40 27,600,000 40 27,600,000
Civil Service Employees Pension Fund 13.2 9,081,781 13.2 9,081,781

17. Legal reserve
 Commercial Companies Law promulgated by the Royal Decree No. 18/2019 (the Commercial Companies 

Law of the Sultanate of Oman), as amended requires that 10% of a Company’s net profit be transferred to a 
non-distributable legal reserve until the amount of legal reserve becomes equal to at least one-third of the 
Company’s issued share capital. Since the amount of legal reserve has exceeded one-third of the Company’s 
share capital, no further transfers have been made during the year. This reserve is not available for distribution.

18. Special reserve
 The Company had established special reserve in prior years to cover against any losses from unforeseen 

contingencies.

19. Employees’ end of service benefits

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 199 211
Charge for the year (note 6) 36 36
Paid during the year - (48)
At 31 December 235 199
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20. Trade and other payables

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Trade payables 45,646 37,150
Accrued expenses 3,332 3,110
Advance from customers 799 710
Other payables 1,565 1,881

51,342 42,851

21. Short-term borrowings
 The carrying amount of the Company’s short-term loan is denominated in Rial Omani. The short- term loan is 

unsecured, carries interest at a commercial rate. The Company has adequate facilities with local banks to 
repay / rollover the loan within 12 months to meet its ongoing business requirements. Interest will be paid 
based on the maturity date. 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

1 January 
RO’000

Cash 
inflows
RO’000

Cash 
outflows

RO’000

31 December
RO’000

Short term loan 2022 42,000 751,427 (750,527) 42,900

Short term loan 2021 44,731 590,714 (593,445) 42,000

22. Dividends paid and proposed

 Dividends paid
 During the year dividend of RO 0.040 per share amounting to RO 2.760 million relating to 2021 was declared 

and paid (2021: Nil).

 Proposed dividend
 The Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of RO 0.085 per share amounting to RO 5.865 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2022, which is subject to the approval of the shareholders at Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 21 March 2023.
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23. Related party transactions 
 The Company has entered into transactions with members of the board of directors and members of the key 

management personnel of the Company. Transactions with related parties are considered by the board of 
directors to be at normal commercial terms and are as follows:

2022
RO’000

2021
RO’000

Transactions with other entities related to Directors:
Revenue 410 290             

Transactions with Directors:
Directors’ remuneration and sitting fees 324 230
Operating lease payment for a filling station owned by a director 24 24

348 254

 At 31 December 2022, there were no transactions with shareholders holding 10% or more interest in the 
Company (2021: nil). Amounts due from related parties are interest free and on normal credit terms (2021: 
same terms). Amount due from related parties are disclosed in note 14.

 Compensation of key management personnel

 The remuneration of key management personnel during the year were as follows:

2022
RO’000

2021
RO’000

Short-term benefits 658 483

Employees’ pension and end of service benefits 21 21
679 504

24. Financial risk management

24.1 Financial risk factors
 The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including the effects of changes in market risk 

(including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. Risk management is carried out by management 
under policies approved by the Board of Directors.

24.2 Market risk

24.2.1 Foreign exchange risk
 Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are 

denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The Company is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from currency exposures primarily with respect to US dollars. As the Company’s 
commercial transactions are primarily in foreign currencies pegged to Rial Omani, the management has not 
taken any forward contracts. Since most of the foreign currency transactions are either in US Dollars or in 
currencies linked to US Dollar, management believes that should these currencies weaken or strengthen 
against the Rial Omani, there would be an insignificant or no impact on the post tax profits. 
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24. Financial risk management (continued)

24.2 Market risk (continued)

24.2.2  Interest rate risk

 The Company’s interest rate risk arises from bank borrowings and bank deposits. The Company analyses its 
interest rate exposure on a regular basis and reassesses the source of borrowings and renegotiates interest 
rates at terms favourable to the Company. The Company limits interest rate risk on bank deposits by monitoring 
changes in interest rates. Management has estimated the effect on profit for the year due to increase or 
decrease in interest rates to be insignificant.

24.3   Credit risk
 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations and arises principally from cash and cash equivalents, as well as credit exposures to 
customers. The Company has a credit policy in place and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going 
basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Company 
requires bank guarantees on higher credit risk customers. The Company does not require collateral in respect 
of all other financial assets. 

 The Company only deals with commercial banks in Oman with good ratings. Management does not expect 
any of its counter parties to fail to meet its obligations. 

 Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter-parties are engaged in similar business activities, 
or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

 The Company has significant concentrations of credit risk with the Government sector. At 31 December 2022, 
Government organisations in Oman accounted for 36% (2021: 40%) of the outstanding trade accounts 
receivables. At 31 December 2022, there were no other significant concentrations of credit risk.

 Credit risk on other financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents arises from the risk of default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances.

 Cash and bank balances are placed with reputed financial institutions in the Sultanate of Oman.

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets 
as follows:

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Trade receivables (note 14) 75,326 66,883
Bank balances and cash (note 15) 35,241 32,906

110,567 99,789
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24. Financial risk management (continued)

24.3 Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

 The Company has a credit policy in place for trade receivables and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. In 
response to the COVID -19 pandemic, the Management has also evaluated credit to customers in sectors and 
regions impacted significantly by the pandemic and re-assessed the credit limits accordingly.

 Expected credit losses (ECL)

 The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. The Company derives its expected credit loss rates 
using a payment profile of sales and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. 
The historical rates are then adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic 
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Company has identified the changes 
in government policies and volatility of oil prices to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the 
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. On that basis, the loss allowance was 
determined as follows for trade receivables and contract assets:

Trade receivables
Days past due

31 December 2022
Contract 

assets 
RO’000

Current
RO’000

< 30 days
RO’000

31 - 180 
days

RO’000

> 180 days
RO’000

Total
RO’000

Expected credit loss rate 0.39% 0.44% 0.62% 2.38% 92.80% 12.48%
Gross carrying amount 5,057 44,449 10,924 10,372 9,581 75,326
Expected credit loss 20 194 68 247 8,891 9,400

Trade receivables
Days past due

31 December 2021
Contract 

assets 
RO’000

Current
RO’000

< 30 days
RO’000

31 - 180 
days

RO’000
> 180 days

RO’000
Total

RO’000

Expected credit loss rate 0.56% 0.50% 0.76% 4.30% 83.59% 14.59%
Gross carrying amount 5,335 36,432 9,391 10,257 10,852 66,932
Expected credit loss 30 183 71 441 9,072 9,767

24.4   Liquidity risk
 The Company limits its liquidity risk by ensuring bank facilities are available. The Company’s terms of sales 

require amounts to be paid on an average of 30 days from the date of sale. Trade payables are normally settled 
within 90 days of the date of purchase.
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24. Financial risk management (continued)

24.4 Liquidity risk (continued) 
 Management has taken several steps in protecting cash flows through compensating cost saving measures 

and reductions to discretionary capital expenditure. Further, the Company aims to maintain the level of its cash 
and cash equivalents at an amount sufficient to meet cash outflows in a range of scenarios.

 The table below summarises the maturities of the Company’s undiscounted financial liabilities at 31 December, 
based on contractual payment dates and current market interest rates.

2022 Up to one 
year

1-5
years

More than 5 
years Total 

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities (note 11) 1,127 2,641 7,392 11,160

Short term borrowings (note 21) 42,900 - - 42,900

Trade and other payables (note 20) 48,775 2,567 - 51,342

92,802 5,208 7,391 105,402

2021 Up to one 
year

1 - 5
years

More than 5 
years Total 

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities (note 11) 1,269 2,430 2,493 6,192

Short term borrowings (note 21) 42,000 - - 42,000

Trade and other payables (note 20) 40,913 1,938 - 42,851

84,182 4,368 2,493 91,043

24.5 Capital management

 The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
a commercially defensible capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. Capital comprises share capital, legal 
reserve, special reserve and retained earnings.

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 
and 2021.

 The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is ‘net debt’ divided by total equity. The Company 
includes within net debt, short term loans, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, less cash and short-term 
deposits.
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24. Financial risk management (continued)

24.5 Capital management (continued)

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Short term borrowings (note 21) 42,900 42,000
Lease liabilities (note 11) 6,883 4,330
Trade and other payables (note 20) 51,342 42,851
Less: Bank balances and cash (note 15) (35,241)   (32,906)

Net debt 65,884 56,275
Equity 47,528 44,096
Capital and net debt 113,412 100,371

Gearing ratio 1.39 1.28

24.6 Fair value estimationv

 The nominal value less any estimated credit adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of 
less than one year are assumed to approximate to their fair values. Financial assets consist of cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables. Financial liabilities consist of trade and other payables and term 
loans.

 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting date are not materially 
different from their carrying values.

 The fair value of land and buildings was determined by external, independent valuers, having appropriate 
recognized professional qualification and experience in location and category of property being valued. The 
independent valuers provide the fair value of the company’s land and building at reporting date based on 
market approach. The fair value measured has been categorized as level 3 based on highest and best use.

The following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique.

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair values are not 
based on observable market data.



7978 7978 79

Annual Report 2022
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24. Financial risk management (continued)

24.6 Fair value estimation (continued)
 The following table presents the non-financial assets for the company that are measured at fair value:

At 31 December 2022 Level 1
RO’000

Level 2
RO’000

Level 3
RO’000

Total 
RO’000

Land and buildings - - 1,527 1,527

At 31 December 2021 Level 1
RO’000

Level 2
RO’000

Level 3
RO’000

Total 
RO’000

Land and buildings - - 1,453 1,453

 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2022.

25. Net assets per share
 Net assets per share is calculated by dividing the shareholders’ equity of the company at the year-end by the 

number of shares outstanding as follows:

2022 2021

Shareholders’ equity (RO’000) 47,528 44,096

Number of shares outstanding at the end of the reporting period (thou-
sands) (note 16) 69,000 69,000

Net assets per share (RO) 0.689 0.639

26 Basic and diluted earnings per share
 Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the year as follows:

2022 2021

Profit for the year (RO’000) 6,192 2,760

Weighted average number of shares (thousands) 69,000 69,000

Earnings per share - basic and diluted (RO) 0.090 0.040

 Since the Company has no potentially dilutive instruments, basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per 
share are equal.



8080 8180 81

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

27. Contingencies and commitments
a)   In December 2015, a civil case, connected to a criminal case initiated against the former Managing Director 

and the former Senior Marketing Manager of the Company, had been filed by a party claiming RO 659,389 
from the Company. The case has been rejected by Primary and appeal courts and has been raised to the 
Higher Supreme court. Based upon external legal advice, the Board of Directors consider that the Company 
has no legal responsibility in respect of these two cases and, accordingly, no provision has been made against 
this claim in the financial statements on the basis that Management believes the possibility of significant loss 
to the Company arising is less than probable.

b) The Company received claims from a major fuel supplier in Oman in respect of:

i)  Price differential between the international and domestic gasoil prices payable in respect of fuel supplied 
during prior years to a customer amounting to approximately RO 820,000 as per the notification received from 
the Ministry of Finance by the fuel supplier. The Company has disputed the claim and considers that the sale 
was a domestic fuel sale based upon a notification received from the Ministry of Oil and Gas in this regard and 
not an international sale, as contested by the fuel supplier.

ii)  RO 846,000 deducted by the Company in previous years from the amounts payable relating to invoices raised 
by the fuel supplier. This deduction relates to a transportation rebate (the rebate) that was not paid to the 
Company by the fuel supplier relating to the prior years. 

 During the year, the Company has paid an agreed sum of RO 432 thousand  to the supplier in full and final 
settlement of above claim (ii)  as mutually agreed settlement comprising 51% of the total claim which was paid 
in 6 monthly installments of RO 72,000 starting from 15 April 2022 to 15 September 2022.

 The fuel supplier has also claimed interest of approximately RO 406,000 (2021: 483,000) in respect of non-
settlement of the claim (i) by the Company.

 Based upon the review of the correspondences with the supplier relating to the above claims and the opinion 
of external lawyers and in-house legal counsel, the Company is constantly monitoring the status of these 
claims and maintains adequate reserves to cover any liability that may arise.

c) The Company guarantees and commitments in the normal course of its business as follows:

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Bank guarantees and letter of credits 2,339 1,959
Capital commitments 3,022 3,226

5,361 5,185
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28. Financial instruments 
The accounting policies for financial assets have been applied to the line items below:

 2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Assets at amortised costs
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 69,017 57,796
Cash at bank and in hand (note 15) 35,241 32,906

104,258 90,702

 The accounting policies for financial liabilities have been applied to the line items below:

2022 2021
RO’000 RO’000

Liabilities measured at amortised costs
Trade and other payables (note 20) 51,342 42,851
Short-term borrowings (note 21) 42,900 42,000

94,242 84,851

29. Segmental information
 Management has determined the Company’s operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief 

Executive Officer that are used to make strategic decisions.

 The Chief Executive Officer identifies operating segments based on a business perspective. The reportable 
operating segments derive their revenue primarily from the sale of refined petroleum products. Retail sales 
amounting to RO 347.9 million (2021: RO 271.7 million) represent the most significant component of revenue 
for the Company.

30. Climate related risks
 The Company and its customers may face significant climate-related risks in the future. These risks include 

the threat of financial loss and adverse non-financial impacts that encompass the political, economic and 
environmental responses to climate change. The key sources of climate risks have been identified as physical 
and transition risks. Physical risks arise as the result of acute weather events such as hurricanes, floods and 
wildfires, and longer-term shifts in climate patterns, such as sustained higher temperatures, heat waves, 
droughts and rising sea levels and risks. Transition risks may arise from the adjustments to a net-zero economy, 
e.g., changes to laws and regulations, litigation due to failure to mitigate or adapt, and shifts in supply and 
demand for certain commodities, products and services due to changes in consumer behaviour and investor 
demand. These risks are receiving increasing regulatory, political and societal scrutiny, both within the country 
and internationally.

 While certain physical risks may be predictable, there are significant uncertainties as to the extent and timing 
of their manifestation. For transition risks, uncertainties remain as to the impacts of the impending regulatory 
and policy shifts, changes in consumer demands and supply chains. The Company is making progress on 
embedding climate risk in its risk framework.
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31. Impact of COVID-19 outbreak
 The Covid-19 outbreak was first reported near the end of 2019 in Wuhan, China. Since then, the virus has 

spread worldwide. On 11 March 2020, the WHO declared the Covid-19 outbreak to be a pandemic. 

 The Covid-19 pandemic shows considerable signs of easing as many countries have lifted travel bans, ended 
lockdowns and eased quarantine measures. Many governments have announced curtailment of certain 
measures to provide financial and non-financial assistance to the affected entities. At the same time, Covid-19 
may continue to affect companies and economies. Many entities are still dealing with lost revenue and 
disrupted supply chains and, as a result, millions of workers have lost their jobs.

 These developments have presented entities with challenges in preparing their IFRS financial statements. 
However, as the impact largely depends on the nature of an entity’s business and the extent to which it has 
been affected, the potential impact has not been illustrated in these financial statements.

 The Covid-19 pandemic affects the assumptions and estimation uncertainty associated with the measurement 
of assets and liabilities. Therefore, entities should carefully consider whether additional disclosures are 
necessary in order to help users of financial statements understand the judgements applied in the financial 
statements.

  32. Comparative figures
 Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current 

year financial statements. Such reclassifications are not material and have not affected previously reported net 
profit or shareholders’ equity.
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